Supreme Court No. 94050-4 Court of Appeals No. 74360-1-I



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE J. KINNUCAN,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Vanessa Soriano Power, WSBA No. 30777 Karl F. Oles, WSBA No. 16401 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-0900

Attorneys for Petitioner

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Michelle J. Kinnucan asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Ms. Kinnucan seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision entered on December 19, 2016, affirming the trial court's order dismissing Ms. Kinnucan's action for a writ of mandamus. A copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is included in the Appendix at pages A 1 through 33.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err by failing to give full effect to the liberal and remedial statutory construction required when it determined that RCW 59.18.440(5), which requires the City of Seattle ("City") to provide administrative hearings to tenants "during relocation," was satisfied even though the City denied Ms. Kinnucan (and all similarly situated tenants) a hearing when she actually faced relocation?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that Ms. Kinnucan had a "plain, speedy, and adequate remedy" by: (a) improperly applying an abuse of discretion standard instead of *de novo* review where the appeal arose from the trial court's grant of a CR 12(b)(6) motion and statutory interpretation; and (b) improperly construing the trial court's

"tenable reason" as sufficient findings of fact to support its conclusion where the central issue was whether a writ of mandate should issue?

3. Do the Court of Appeals' errors involve issues that make review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

The Court of Appeals correctly summarized the background to this dispute as follows:

RCW 59.18.440 authorizes any city, town, county, or municipal corporation to adopt local ordinances that require property owners to pay relocation assistance funds to low-income tenants upon the demolition, substantial rehabilitation, or change of use of the dwelling in which such tenants reside, so long as the ordinances provide for administrative hearings to resolve disputes between landlord and tenant relating to relocation assistance or unlawful detainer actions during relocation. [Opinion, page 1, emphasis added.]

See A 19-20. Ms. Kinnucan argues that Seattle's ordinance (SMC Chapter 22.210, the Tenant Relocation Assistance Ordinance or "TRAO") fails to provide mandated administrative hearings. See A 21-33. The relevant portions of RCW 59.18.440 ("Relocation assistance for low-income tenants") can be summarized as follows (by subsection number):

- (1) Any tenant relocation assistance ordinance must be consistent with what is "expressly authorized herein."
- (2) Defines "low-income tenants."

- (3) The municipality determines the amount of relocation assistance to be provided based on stated factors.
- (4) Relocation assistance shall not exceed \$2,000 (adjusted for inflation) and the portion paid by the landlord shall not exceed 50%.
- (5) Any ordinance implementing the statute "shall include provisions for administrative hearings to resolve disputes between tenants and property owners relating to relocation assistance or unlawful detainer actions during relocation." Limited judicial review is available.

Following enactment of this statute, the City adopted the TRAO.

The TRAO provides that if a landlord wishes to demolish or substantially rehabilitate a rental property – so that tenants must move out – the following steps must be followed:

- 1. The landlord applies to the City for a tenant relocation license and gives.
- 2. The City imposes a prohibition against eviction of any tenant except for causes unrelated to relocation under the TRAO.
- 3. The landlord gives the tenants an "information packet" about relocation assistance.
- 4. The tenants submit "relocation assistance certification forms" to the City, stating their income. The City determines which tenants qualify as "low-income" tenants.
- 5. The landlord pays half of the total tenant relocation assistance payments to the City.
- 6. The landlord gives the tenants a 90-day notice of its intention to demolish or renovate the property.

- 7. Following the expiration of the 90-day notice period, the City may issue a tenant relocation license to the landlord.
- 8. Once the tenant relocation license is issued, the restriction on evicting tenants (except for good cause) is removed.
- 9. Eligible tenants may apply for relocation assistance when they move out of their rental units.

See A 21-33 (SMC 22.210.110, .130(C), .140(A)).

These events divide naturally into two parts, with the central event being the issuance of the tenant relocation permit. During the first period, information is exchanged, entitlement to relocation assistance is determined, and the landlord contributes half of the relocation assistance fund. During the second period, the landlord terminates leases, tenants move out, and tenants apply for and receive relocation funds.

Ms. Kinnucan is a low-income tenant who lives in the City. CP 97, 99, 100. From November 2013 through January 2014, Ms. Kinnucan received communications from her landlord indicating that her multibuilding complex would be rehabilitated but that tenants in her particular building could stay until October 2014. CP 96, 121-27. Ms. Kinnucan relied on these representations. CP 96. Demolition began in the complex. CP 97. In February 2014, Ms. Kinnucan, on behalf of her apartment complex's tenant's union, expressed concerns to the property owner about an environmental toxin: lead dust generated by the demolition. CP 97, 131-32. These concerns were borne out when tests performed by the

public health department revealed lead levels in Ms. Kinnucan's building in excess of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency standards. CP 97, 134.

On April 3, 2014, the City issued a tenant relocation license to the landlord. CP 41, 62. The next day, April 4, 2014, the landlord gave Ms. Kinnucan notice to terminate her tenancy by April 30, 2014 -- six months earlier than previously indicated -- or be subject to an unlawful detainer action. CP 136. Ms. Kinnucan was the only resident of her building subject to the accelerated termination date. CP 97. Given the difficulty of finding affordable rental units in the City, Ms. Kinnucan's already disabling health problems were exacerbated by stress. *Id*.

On April 21, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan, quoting RCW 59.18.440(5), contacted the City's Office of Hearing Examiner ("OHE") to seek a resolution to the dispute by means of an administrative hearing. CP 98, 142-43. The OHE informed Ms. Kinnucan that it had "authority to hear your complaint," and accordingly Ms. Kinnucan filed a four-page complaint with the OHE. *Id.* The City then changed course and denied Ms. Kinnucan an administrative hearing, relying on SMC 22.210.150(C), which provides:

A request for a hearing relating to authority to pursue unlawful detainer actions during the relocation period shall be filed prior to issuance of the tenant relocation license.

CP 149.

Ms. Kinnucan was then informed by the City that "[y]ou indicate that the Office of Hearing Examiner has refused to hear your complaint in this matter . . . [t]here is no route to an administrative hearing on any of the issues you have raised." CP 99, 156-59. Ms. Kinnucan, proceeding *pro se*, filed a lawsuit against her landlord. CP 99. This was settled and Ms. Kinnucan remained in her apartment until a few weeks before the relocation date originally indicated. CP 100.

B. Procedural Background.

On December 29, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan filed a lawsuit seeking a writ of mandamus to require the City to offer the administrative hearings called for in the statute. CP 1-6. The City filed a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6). The trial court granted the City's motion on October 23, 2015. CP 168-69. Ms. Kinnucan appealed. CP 170. The Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed the trial court's judgment by unpublished opinion dated December 19, 2016. A 1-16.

ARGUMENT

To support issuance of a writ of mandamus, a party must show that (1) the party subject to the writ has a clear duty to act; (2) the petitioner has no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law;

and (3) the petitioner is beneficially interested. RCW 7.16.160, .170. Here, the Court of Appeals erred in its statutory construction in finding the City had only a discretionary duty and fulfilled that duty where, as here, Ms. Kinnucan was denied the required administrative hearing. Further, the Court of Appeals erred in construing Ms. Kinnucan's relief as "plain, speedy, and adequate" where the facts reflect otherwise. Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), review should be granted.

A. The Court of Appeals Erred in Determining That RCW 59.18.440 Was Satisfied Even Though the City Denied Ms. Kinnucan Any Hearing When She Actually Faced Relocation.

RCW 59.18.440 is a remedial statute and subject to liberal construction. The Court of Appeals agreed. A 6-7. But in applying the statute to the facts at hand, the Court of Appeals failed to give full effect to the requirement that the City provide administrative hearings "during relocation." There is no dispute that the Court's review of this issue is a question of statutory interpretation is *de novo*. A 6 (citing *State v. LG Elecs., Inc.*, 185 Wn. App. 123, 132, 340 P.3d 915 (2014)).

The term "during relocation" is not defined in the statute. A 8. Accordingly, the term should be given its plain and ordinary meaning. *Finch v. Thurston Cty.*, 186 Wn.2d 744, 758, 381 P.3d 46 (2016) ("Undefined words in a statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning unless a contrary intent appears." (citing *Dennis v. Dep't of*

Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 479-80, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987))). The plain and ordinary meaning of "relocation" is moving to a new location. The same meaning is assumed in the statute. RCW 59.18.440(3) says that the amount of relocation assistance should be based on "[a]ctual physical moving costs and expenses" and "[a]dvance payments required for moving into a new residence." Thus it should not be controversial that the ordinary (and statutory) meaning of the phrase "during relocation" must include the period during which tenants are actually relocating (moving to a new location).

The City's ordinance plainly fails to satisfy the statute. In fact, the City says, in effect, to Ms. Kinnucan (and all similarly situated tenants): "Your right to a hearing 'during relocation' ends at the moment your landlord gets a license to make you relocate." In sum, the City provides for administrative hearings only pre-relocation, not *during* relocation as required by the statute.

The City does not deny that the term "during relocation" could reasonably mean "while tenants are moving," *i.e.*, that it *could have* offered hearings during the period when tenants are actually relocating.

¹ The City admits that its ordinance makes administrative hearings available only "during the *first portion of the relocation process.*" City's Response Brief on Appeal at p. 7.

City's Response Brief on Appeal at p. 11. But the City instead insisted on "broad discretion" to interpret the phrase "during relocation" to exclude the time when tenant relocations actually occur. *Id.* at pp. 7, 9.

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals agreed with the City and interpreted the term "during relocation" to refer to a time period when no one is actually permitted to be relocated under the TRAO. The Court of Appeals reasoned:

Thus, RCW 59.19.440 requires that a participating city establish a system whereby low-income tenants receive relocation assistance that is mutually paid for by the city and by the property owner. Should a dispute arise between the property owner and the tenant *relating to relocation assistance*, the city must allow for an administrative hearing. Tellingly, RCW 59.18.440 is silent as to any dispute or event that occurs after such relocation assistance has been provided. Accordingly, a reading of the statute as a whole leads to but one conclusion – "during relocation" is in reference to the relocation assistance, not physical relocation of the tenants themselves.

A 8 (emphasis in original).

With respect, this argument makes no logical sense. As far as the statute goes (indeed, as far as the TRAO goes), "relocation assistance has been provided" only at the end of the process, which is necessarily after issuance of the tenant relocation license and after the tenant has actually moved or fixed a move-out date. Referring to this late event does nothing to support the City's denial of hearings after the "first portion of the relocation process."

The Court of Appeals' narrow interpretation is incorrect. The municipality determines eligibility for relocation assistance, the amount of assistance, and the landlord's percentage share of that assistance. No disputes can arise between the *landlord and tenant* over these matters. The Court of Appeals, by reading the statutory language narrowly, essentially eliminates this statutory mandate for hearings and fails to give required effect to the statute by application of liberal construction for remedial impact.

One of the things the statute contemplates is that landlords, seeking increased rents from property upgrades, will have a strong incentive to evict low-income tenants without giving them time to prepare for a move.

The City's ordinance expressly contemplates the same thing:

Conditions in the current rental market have created a relocation crisis, because tenants, especially low-income tenants, do not have sufficient time to save money for relocation costs or to find comparable housing when they are evicted as a result of demolition, change of use, substantial rehabilitation or removal of use restrictions from their dwelling units.

SMC 22.210.020(A)(6).

The legislature sought to address this "crisis" by allowing municipalities to enact tenant relocation assistance ordinances. This is a remedial statute, subject to liberal construction, and "[t]he same rules of construction apply to interpretation of municipal ordinances as to

interpretation of state statutes." *City of Puyallup v. Pac. Nw. Bell Tel. Co.*, 98 Wn.2d 443, 448, 656 P.2d 1035 (1982). Any such ordinance limits a landlord's ability to evict low-income tenants on short notice. Such limitations naturally create new incentives for evading those restrictions.

Such harassment can occur at any time until the tenant actually moves to a new location. In Ms. Kinnucan's case, the landlord reneged on an earlier assurance regarding her tenancy (allegedly) as retaliation for her protest about the landlord's unsafe practices. This left Ms. Kinnucan in exactly the situation the statute was intended to address: told to vacate before she had a chance to prepare for a move. Reading the statute liberally, this is exactly the kind of thing what the legislature had in mind when it mandated administrative hearings to "resolve disputes between tenants and property owners "relating to . . . unlawful detainer actions during relocation."

The Court of Appeals erred first when it interpreted the phrase "relating to relocation assistance or unlawful detainer actions during relocation" so narrowly as to essentially eliminate the phrase from the statute. The Court of Appeals erred again when it concluded that disputes "during relocation" could never occur "after such relocation assistance has been provided." In doing so, the Court of Appeals failed to give full effect to the statute. In fact, Ms. Kinnucan's dispute with her landlord arose and

she requested a hearing from the City months before she applied for or received any relocation assistance.

The Court of Appeals' error can be seen in its description of the City's ordinance:

[W]hat the [ordinance] provides are administrative hearings for instances in which a landlord is attempting to unlawfully evict a tenant – or otherwise harass, intimidate, or raise rent to cause a tenant to vacate their apartment – so as to avoid paying tenant relocation assistance.

A 11 (emphasis added).

This may be an accurate summary of the City's thought process, but it has no basis in the statute. The statute does *not* say that hearings will be provided for disputes only where the landlord is trying to avoid paying tenant relocation assistance. It says that hearings will be provided for disputes "relating to relocation assistance." The broader term includes instances where a landlord is attempting to unlawfully evict a tenant even after paying its share of relocation assistance (perhaps thinking, "I paid my money, I can throw them out"). That is (allegedly) what happened to Ms. Kinnucan. The day after the relocation license was issued, the landlord told Ms. Kinnucan, alone among residents in her building, that she had to leave earlier than previous indicated.

Trying to justify its conclusion, the Court of Appeals says that Ms.

Kinnucan "does not attempt to define when 'during relocation' has

ended." A 8, at Note 1. That is incorrect. Ms. Kinnucan has always asserted that "relocation" means moving to a new location, and that the City was wrong to deny administrative hearings during the only period in which tenants actually move. As a practical matter, a landlord will apply for a tenant relocation license and pay the required contribution only when it is on the verge of taking action that will displace tenants. Tenants must apply for relocation assistance within 180 days of being displaced. SMC 22.210.130(E). These two factors set a limit to the period described as "during relocation."

The Court of Appeals' interpretation and the City's application of the statute improperly limits its effect, far from giving the statute liberal construction as a remedial statute. This is not an issue of usurpation of the superior court's jurisdiction over unlawful detainer proceedings. Nor is it an issue of other, "alternate" remedies. The administrative hearings sought here are specific to the relocation statute and a tenant's rights under the TRAO. Whether or not appropriate cause exists for eviction through the unlawful detainer process is a separate matter for the superior court. But here, the City's arbitrary limitation of administrative hearings to only the "first portion" of the relocation process cuts off administrative hearings during the period when tenants are permitted to be relocated and, thus, in fact moving. And that is precisely when an unlawful detainer

action may arise, and precisely the type of process mandated under the statute.

B. The Court of Appeals Erred in Determining That Ms. Kinnucan Had a "Plain, Speedy, and Adequate" Remedy.

In concluding that Ms. Kinnucan had a "plain, speedy, and adequate" remedy, the Court of Appeals erred by: (1) applying the wrong standard of review; and (2) improperly construing the trial court's "tenable reason" as a factual finding sufficient to support its conclusion. Further, the Court of Appeals focused on the wrong issue in making its determination. Ms. Kinnucan sought not a remedy against her landlord – her particular issue had been settled – but rather a writ to make the City comply with the statute so that Ms. Kinnucan and others would have full administrative hearing rights as required by the legislature under RCW 59.18.440(5). A lawsuit by a tenant against a landlord, even if successful, can never remedy the City's failure to provide "administrative hearings to resolve disputes between tenants and property owners relating to . . . unlawful detainer actions during relocation." RCW 59.18.440(5).

Additionally, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard of review to this issue. While determination of whether a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy exists is generally left to a trial court's discretion and reviewed for abuse of that discretion, that standard does not apply here.

This case arises in the context of a CR 12(b)(6) motion that turned on statutory interpretation, not findings of fact. In this case, the question is one of law to be reviewed *de novo*. *Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 178 Wn.2d 635, 649 n.5, 310 P.3d 804 (2013).²

The Court of Appeals' ruling suggests a concern with the interplay between the City's interest in finality in permitting processes, a landlord's right to develop its property, and a tenant's right to administrative hearings under the TRAO. But the Court of Appeals' concern is misplaced. This is not, as the Court reasons, an issue on which the hearing examiner would have no authority in the context of unlawful detainer actions or issuance of tenant relocation licenses. To the contrary, as another city has found in applying the same statute and adopting its own tenant relocation assistance ordinance, an administrative hearing before a hearing examiner "to resolve disputes between displaced tenants and the owner relating to unlawful detainer actions during relocation" is precisely what the statute requires. Bellevue Municipal Code § 9.21.100.

² Even if the deferential standard were applied, the Court of Appeals' reliance on the trial court's "tenable reason" is not sufficient to support a finding of fact warranting the conclusion that Ms. Kinnucan was afforded a proper remedy. The law requires that the remedy meet all three of the elements – that it be plain, speedy, *and* adequate. Even with the most generous interpretation, the trial court at best found only that Ms. Kinnucan had an "alternative" remedy. But an "alternative" remedy does not equate to one that is plain, speedy, and adequate.

C. The Court of Appeals' Errors Involves Issues that Make Review Appropriate Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

The test for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is whether the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

Here the Court of Appeals properly cited *State v. Douty*, 92 Wn.2d 930, 936, 603 P.2d 373 (1979) for the principle that remedial statutes should be construed liberally, but then it abandoned that principle.

Liberal construction requires that the coverage of an act's provisions "be liberally construed and its exceptions be narrowly confined." *Local 1-369 v. Washington Public Power Supply System,* 101 Wn.2d 24, 29, 677 P.2d 108 (1984). There is no dispute that Ms. Kinnucan falls within the scope of RCW 59.18.440 and the TRAO. Indeed, the City approved and disbursed -- albeit months after it issued the tenant relocation license -- relocation assistance funds to Ms. Kinnucan. Moreover, "[1]iberal construction of a statute implies a concomitant intent that its exceptions be narrowly confined." *Miller v. City of Tacoma,* 138 Wn.2d 318, 324, 979 P.2d 429 (1999) citing *Mead Sch. Dist. No. 354 v. Mead Educ. Ass'n,* 85 Wn.2d 140, 145, 530 P.2d 302 (1975). Here, the Court of Appeals' construction results in a wide exception to the administrative hearings requirement by concluding that the term 'during

relocation' is in "reference to the relocation assistance, not physical relocation of the tenants themselves." A 8.

In this case the plain language of the statute, on its face, makes express provision for administrative hearings "during relocation." Even assuming that "during relocation" is somehow ambiguous or unclear, use of liberal construction to determine the scope of application supports an expansive reading to give full effect to the statute. The Court of Appeals' acceptance of the City's limitation on administrative hearings is a narrow reading that is inconsistent with liberal construction.

The test for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), whether an issue constitutes one of "substantial public interest," can be analyzed by looking at how the Court determines whether to review a moot issue. A moot issue can be reviewed when it concerns a matter of continuing and substantial public interest. To determine the degree of public interest involved, the Court considers: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers; and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. *See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Mines*, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002):

In *Hart v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 449, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988), this court observed that most cases in which appellate courts utilized

the exception to the mootness doctrine involved issues of constitutional or statutory interpretation. These types of issues, the court stated, tended to be more public in nature, more likely to arise again, and the decisions helped to guide public officials. *Id.* It further noted that the exception had not been used in cases involving statutory or regulatory interpretation limited to their facts. *Id.*

The current case turns on statutory interpretation in a matter of such public interest that the legislature has seen fit to impose requirements on all municipalities seeking to craft tenant relocation ordinances. The issues presented here are likely to arise again as long as the Washington housing market gives landlords a powerful incentive to hurry low-income tenants out of their homes. At least one city has done it right, as reflected by Bellevue's tenant relocation ordinance allowing for administrative hearings "to resolve disputes between displaced tenants and the owner relating to unlawful detainer actions during relocation." The City, in this action, did not, and the Court of Appeals' acrobatic attempt to justify the City's failures cannot stand.

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons stated, this Court should grant review.