Supreme Court No. 94058-4 Court of Appeals No. 74360-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE J. KINNUCAN,

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent.

CITY OF SEATTLE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

Elizabeth E. Anderson, WSBA #34036 Assistant City Attorney Attorneys for Respondent The City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 - 5th Avenue, Suite 2050 P.O. Box 94769 Seattle, WA 98104-7097 (206) 684-8200

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court will grant review only if one or more factors in RAP 13.4(b) are present. Kinnucan identifies two as a basis for review: (1) the Court of Appeals Decision ("Decision") allegedly conflicts with decisions of this Court,³ and (2) the Decision allegedly involves an issue of substantial public interest requiring a determination by this Court.⁴ Both claims are meritless.

A. No conflict with a Supreme Court decision exists.

This case does not qualify for review based on an alleged conflict with a Washington Supreme Court decision. Rather than argue a direct conflict, Kinnucan argues that the Court of Appeals construction of RCW 59.18.440(5) "results in a wide exception to the administrative hearings requirement" and that such "exception" is not "narrowly confined" as required by *Local 1-369 v. Washington Public Power Supply System*,⁵ and

² The Court of Appeals Decision ("Decision") is located at pp. A-01 – A-16 of Kinnucan's Appendix to her Petition. The facts are summarized at pp. A-02 – A-04. The procedural history is summarized in last full paragraph of p. A-04. If review is granted, the City will supplement its statement of facts.

³ RAP 13.4 (b) (1).

⁴ RAP 13.4 (b) (4).

⁵ Kinnucan's Petition at p. 16.

Miller v. City of Tacoma, both of which cite Mead Scho. Dist. No. 354, v. Mead Educ. Ass'n.⁶ These cases do not conflict with the Decision.

In each of the cases cited by Kinnucan, the Court evaluated a statutory exception to a statutory provision, which is not at issue here. In *Local 1-369*, the Court determined if the Washington Public Power Supply System was a "public utility district" under a statutory exception at RCW 41.56.170-.180. Unlike in *Local 1-369*, the statute at issue here, RCW 59.18.440, contains no "exception" language that the Court interpreted. Although both cases involved statutory interpretation using well-established rules of statutory construction, 7 there is no conflict between *Local 1-369* and the Decision.

Similarly, *Miller* involved the statutory construction of a statutory exception to the Open Public Meetings Act at RCW 42.30.010(g).⁸ *Mead* also involved interpreting a statutory exception to the Open Public Meetings Act at RCW 42.30.080.⁹ Here again, the Court of Appeals interpreted no "exception" language when RCW 59.18.440 contains no statutory exception. Kinnucan's attempt to create a conflict misses the mark and fails to meet the criteria in RAP 13.4(b)(1).

⁶ Kinnucan's Petition at p. 16.

⁷ See the last paragraph of p. A-06 through A-08. In *I-369*, see 101 Wn.2d 24, 29 (1984).

⁸ Miller v. City of Tacoma, 138 Wn. 2d 318, 324-325, 979 P.2d 302 (1999).

⁹ Mead Sch. Dist. No. 354 v. Mead Educ. Ass'n, 85 Wn. 2d 140, 144-145, 530 P.2d 302 (1975).

Kinnucan's disagreement with the Court's statutory interpretation of the phrase "during relocation" at RCW 59.18.440(5) based on universally accepted principles of statutory construction is an insufficient basis for the Washington Supreme Court to grant review. While Kinnucan argues a "conflict" exists because the Court "abandoned" the principle of liberal construction" her argument is based on a bare assertion.

Kinnucan does not explain how the Court of Appeals abandoned this principle. The Legislature did not define the phase "during relocation." Just because the Court did not agree with Kinnucan's argument does not establish it failed to liberally construe the phrase.

Kinnucan has failed to establish that the Decision conflicts with any Washington Supreme Court decisions.

B. No issue of substantial public interest exists.

Kinnucan fails to establish that the issues raised in her Petition rise to a level of substantial public interest that warrants review by this Court. Kinnucan spends much of her Petition rearguing the merits of the issues decided by the Court of Appeals without citing to any RAP 13.4(b) criteria. Kinnucan seeks review of whether: (1) the Court of Appeals properly concluded the City's TRAO administrative appeals provisions

¹⁰ Kinnucan's Petition at p. 16.

¹¹ Decision at p. A-06.

¹² Kinnucan's Petition at pp. 6-15.

comply with RCW 59.18.440(5) when Kinnucan was denied an administrative hearing; and (2) the Decision erred in concluding Kinnucan had a plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law.¹³ Both issues lack merit.

1. Kinnucan's claim that the Court of Appeals erred in concluding RCW 59.18.440 was satisfied does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals correctly relied on long-recognized rules of statutory construction to interpret RCW 59.18.440(5), including using construction to best advance the statute's legislative purpose, which the Court of Appeals noted was "to address the disparate impact of rising rent on low-income individuals by providing those individuals with relocation funds. *Garneau*, 147 F.3d at 804." This purpose is set forth in the statute and has been recognized previously in *Garneau v. City of Seattle*, 147 F.3d 802, 804 (9th Cir. 1998). Further, the Court of Appeals did not read the phrase out of the statute as Kinnucan argues. The Court of Appeals carefully walked through its interpretation of the phrase "during relocation", which must occur before it could determine if the City had a duty to provide administrative hearings after the issuance of a tenant relocation license. The Court relied on well-established case law to

¹³ Kinnucan's Petition at pp. 1-2.

¹⁴ Decision at p. A-06.

¹⁵ Kinnucan's Petition at p. 11.

¹⁶ Decision at pp. A-06, last paragraph, through A-09.

conclude that while the City had a duty to adopt policies, procedures, or regulations that are consistent with the statute's requirements, the precise details of those policies or procedures are left to the discretion of the City ¹⁷ The Court properly relied on *Eugster* for the well-accepted principle that a writ of mandamus will not issue to compel a governmental entity to exercise its discretion in a particular manner.¹⁸

Notably, the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished. This weights toward the issues not being significant beyond Kinnucan when the Court of Appeals did not think it sufficiently important to publish the decision, and Kinnucan did not move to publish the decision.

In her Petition, Kinnucan does not discuss why the Court of Appeal's alleged error in interpreting and applying the meaning of RCW 59.18.440(5) to Kinnucan's denial of her writ has ramifications beyond the parties and the facts of her individual case. For an issue on appeal to meet the "substantial public interest" test, the petitioner should "at a minimum discuss why the particular issue has ramifications beyond the particular parties and the particular facts of an individual case. Kinnucan argues, with no citation to the record or case law that the issues raised by

¹⁷ Decision at p. A-09.

¹⁸ *Id*.

Kinnucan "are likely to arise again". ¹⁹ A bare recitation that a case affects the public interest is not sufficient to grant review." ²⁰

Kinnucan next cites the common-law doctrine of mootness, which sets forth factors a court may use to evaluate whether a moot issue is of continuing and substantial public importance that should be reviewed and decided by this Court.²¹ The doctrine recognizes, however, that issues involving statutory interpretation limited to their facts are less likely to be an issue of significant public interest.²² As already discussed, Kinnucan's issues are limited to their facts.

Finally, Kinnacan's new argument that the City of Bellevue's ordinance "does it right" does not establish the issues raised in Kinnucan's Petition — which focus exclusively on Kinnucan's experience considering the City of Seattle's TRAO administrative hearing provisions — are of significant public interest. Kinnucan does not cite any evidence in the record or briefing demonstrating the public nature of the issues she is seeking review of: the desirability of an authoritative determination beyond what the Court of Appeals provided or the likelihood of future

¹⁹ Kinnucan's Petition at p. 18.

²⁰ WA. App. Practice Desk Book, Vol. IV, § 18.3(3) at p. 18-6 (4th ed. 2016).

²¹ Kinnucan's Petition at pp. 17-18.

²² Kinnucan's Petition at pp. 17-18.

²³ Kinnucan's Petition at p. 18. See also Kinnucan's Petition at p. 15.

recurrence. Kinnucan has failed to establish the issues related to denial of her writ of mandamus are of a substantial public interest.

2. Kinnucan's claim that the Court erred in concluding she had a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy does not raise to an issue of substantial interest.

Much like Kinnucan's first issue, her second issue, is fact-bound and applies only to Kinnucan. The Court of Appeal's denial of her writ applies only to her and was based on her failure to establish that she had no plain, adequate, or speedy remedy at law. The Court of Appeals addressed this issue in its Decision.²⁴ However, in her Petition, Kinnucan reargues her same points. It is undisputed in the record that Kinnucan filed suit against her landlord.²⁵ The court properly relied on the abuse of discretion standard; however, even if the court erred and the proper standard is *de novo*, there is adequate evidence in the record that a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy exists²⁶ including filing a lawsuit and filing a complaint with the City's Planning and Development Department, both of which Kinnucan did.²⁷ Even if Kinnucan received an administrative hearing, it is not clear to the City, nor was it clear to the Court of Appeals,

²⁴ Decision at p. A-12 - A-14.

²⁵ P. A-13 "When Kinnucan was unlawfully evicted from her apartment she brought suit pursuant to the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, chapter 59.18..... Kinnucan also relied on Seattle's just cause ordinance, SMC 22.206.160..."

²⁶ Decision at pp. A-12 and A-13.

²⁷ Supra, FN. 25.

how such a hearing would provide Kinnucan with any relief long after she had received her tenant relocation money and long after had moved to a new residence.²⁸ As noted above, the denial of Kinnucan's writ affects her and her alone.

VI. CONCLUSION

Because Ms. Kinnucan failed to show that denial of her writ meets either standard for granting review in RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4), the Petition for Review should be denied.